
OFFICE OF THE SUPERINTENDENT OF SCHOOLS 

Peterborough, New Hampshire 

 

CONTOOCOOK VALLEY SCHOOL BOARD 

 

Tuesday, February 7, 2006 

 

SAU Office 

7:00 p.m. 

 
MINUTES 

 

 Board        Administration 

 Joe MacGregor, Tom Welden     Keith Burke, Supt. 
 Craig Hicks, Stewart Brock     Paul Bartolomucci, Asst. Supt. 
 Dan Harper, Bill McKinnon     Marian Alese, BA 
 Beverly Bacon, Nan Fornal     Linda Potter, SpEd 
 Gail Cromwell, Tom Lawless     Sue Dell, CVHS 
 Ken Young, Christy Greene     Gib West, CVHS 
         Dick Dunning, SMS 
 Beth SanMartino, CVEA     Jeanie West, SMS 
            May Clark, DCS 
         Rick Nannicelli, GBS 
         Pamela Matthews, Pierce 
         Sue Copley, PES 

1. Call to Order and Pledge of Allegiance     

Joe MacGregor called the meeting to order at 7:09 p.m.  The Pledge of Allegiance was recited. 
Bill McKinnon reported that he would be recording the meeting 

 

2.  Minutes (Board Vote Required) 

     a.  January 24, 2006 

    Ken Young motioned to accept the January 24, 2006 minutes 

    Gail Cromwell wanted to note that on page 9, Item # 16, that she was one in favor.   
    In addition, Bill McKinnon said that the vote associated with item #16 is a vote to put the   
    warrant on the ballot for the voters to decide. 
    Nan Fornal second. 

    All were in favor as amended. 

 

      3.  Public Comment 

 None 
 

      4.  Superintendent’s Report and Presentation of Business 

a. Request to Accept a Gift or Donation (Board Vote Required) 

1. ConVal High School has received from Charles Howland and Jenny Houston of Warwick 
Mills $500 for the US First Robotics Club 

Tom Lawless motioned to accept the gift as listed. 

Ken Young second.  Unanimous. 

 

 

 

 

1. 
 



 

 

b. Assignment of Warrant Questions 

The following Board Members agreed to speak on behalf of the following warrant questions: 
#1 Ð Tom Welden  #2 Ð Tom Welden  #3 Ð Christy Greene 
#4 Ð Craig Hicks  #5 Ð Craig Hicks  #6 Ð Nan Fornal 
#7 Ð Christy Greene  #8 Ð Joe MacGregor  #9 Ð Joe MacGregor 
#10 Ð Nan Fornal  #11 Ð Ken Young  #12 Ð Ken Young 
#13 Ð Beverly Bacon  #14 Ð Beverly Bacon  #15 Ð Tom Lawless 
#16 Ð Christy Greene  #17 Ð Petition Article 
 

 

c. Staff Appreciation Day – May 26, 2006 

Keith Burke said that typically every year students are released half-day and a lunch is provided for 
all district staff in appreciation.  He requested that this be done again this year on May 26, 2006. 
Craig Hicks moved to release students half-day on May 26, 2006 in recognition of staff 

appreciation. 

Stewart Brock second.  Unanimous. 

 

d.  Monthly Events Calendar 

 Keith Burke referenced the February 2006 ConVal School District Calendar 
. 
 Tom Welden asked if counsel has given an opinion on Article #17.  Is it enforceable? 
 Keith Burke said that counsel feels that it is not enforceable. 
 
 Marsha Morrow from the Monadnock Ledger asked for clarification.  Joe MacGregor repeated the  
            question and KeithÕs clarification. 
 In addition, further clarification was asked if the general vote comes in majority, would we take  
            action?  
            Joe MacGregor said that he believes it will not. 
 

      5.  Reports 

a. Principal 

Dick Dunning said both he and Rick Nannicelli would like to report that the wrestling team made up 
of both 5th and 6th graders was the Division II champions for the Tri-County league.  
This upcoming weekend they will go to the State Meet.  Of the eight students participating, eight 
came in first.  Mr. Dunning also said that on March 2nd SMS would host a model solar car race.  This 
will be the first time that this will be held in this part of the state. 
Pamela Matthews said that she is very excited to participate in PBIS. 
Sue Dell reported that she just got the results of the National German exams.  Ten scored above 85% 
and six students scored above 90%.  Two firsts, Michelle Russell received a perfect score on the oral 
test and Britta Moore received a perfect score on the written exam. 
Sue Copley said that PES recently had game night.  On Friday, fourth grade teachers went to a Social 
Studies workshop.  In addition, she joined Pierce school and ConVal in PBIS last week in Concord.  
Lastly, she reported that she was very impressed with the fire and police response during a recent bus 
accident before school.     
May Clark commented on the spread of schools involved with PBIS.  Dublin is in its first year and 
has learned so much already.   
Paul Bartolomucci said that the Title I literacy night was held last week at CVHS.  Great food was 
put out by ConVal food service.  There was a great turnout.  Paul thanked the  staff for their volunteer 
hours. 
  

b. Teacher 

None 
2. 



 

 

c. Student 

None 
 
d. Education 

Christy Greene said they met last night.  ConVal graduation requirements were discussed.  The group 
is trying to arrive at a process on how the decision will be arrived at.  The high school is working 
diligently on a timeline as to how they are going to achieve an end product to arrive at the decision on 
graduation requirements. 
Christy Greene moved to accept the timeline provided 

Tom Welden second. 

Gail Cromwell said that we needed to take an active role in forming the committee.  She recommends 
five faculty, five School Board members as well as students and principals on the committee.   
Gail said she would like a draft proposal to come to the Board first for review before going to district 
administration.    
Nan Fornal said that it would be better to leave the composition to the CVLT.  They should decide 
who is on the committee. 
Craig said that he would like to know how the Board was going to be involved. 
Christy said this document has been discussed twice and has asked to bring it forward.  Regular 
updates have been requested.  She clarified that she was making the motion to accept the timeline. 
Craig said that if the Board has not decided whether we want two diplomas or not he is not sure if he 
wants to advance this.  If we send it off, does it mean that we are done discussing it? 
Joe MacGregor said that part of the committee would have Board representation.  Bill McKinnon 
suggested that a different mix for this committee might be considered.  Joe MacGregor said that the 
committee makeup has not been defined in the document. 
Keith Burke said that the process is for it to go through the school, to the Superintendent and the 
Board.   
Joe MacGregor asked how this differs from a request for a curriculum change.  Gail Cromwell said 
the Boards job is to work out policy.  Why shouldnÕt it come straight to the Board?  Is there a legal 
reason?     
Tom Welden said that traditionally, to avoid chaos, information travels to the Superintendent and 
then to the Board.  The idea is that information passes through the management team.  Therefore, it 
would be known where certain items are in the process.  Stewart Brock said that he would love to 
have additional eyes on this because it is such an important item.  As an alternative, this could be 
brought to the sub-committee.  Bill McKinnon said that it might languish and not get to the Board in 
a timely manner.   
Craig Hicks said that he is less concerned with how the report travels.  He is concerned that we are 
the people that direct the scope of work.   
Joe Macgregor said that we need to focus on the motion that is on the floor for the timeline.   
Ken Young said School Board policy titled GBD.  The first paragraph defines where all 
communications go.  The flow is from the staff to the Superintendent. 
Stewart Brock deferred. 
Gail Cromwell said that policy refers to the staff.  This is a special committee and is broader than just 
staff.  She would prefer to see the proposal that comes out of the committee before it gets revised.   
Gail amended Christy’s motion to say that the proposal should travel first to the Board before 

Administration for approval. 

Beverly Bacon said hats off to the high school for working up a timeline.  Sue Dell has assured us 
that the Board will be part of the process.  Has the committee makeup been decided?  Sue Dell 
replied that it had not and that a meeting would take place tomorrow.   
Joe MacGregor said to include Òand BoardÓ on the June 06 and July/Aug 06 line. 
Joe asked what the fear was about revision.  It has to come to the Board for review anyway.   
 

3. 
 



 

 
Nan Fornal said that she thinks the amendment is a vote of no confidence.  The School Board has 
enough on its plate without taking on other peoples work.   
Bill McKinnon asked what the fear was of giving the work to the Board for review.   
Gail Cromwell said that it was not intended as a vote of no confidence. 
Keith Burke said he did not take it as a vote of no confidence.   
Joe MacGregor called for a vote. 

Craig Hicks, Bill McKinnon, Gail Cromwell, Stewart Brock, Christy Greene in favor. 

Dan Harper, Beverly Bacon, Tom Welden, Nan Fornal, Tom Lawless and Ken Young voted in 

the negative. 

 Motion failed. 

   
Gail Cromwell said that because of the extra math credit, freshman this year must believe that they 
need 27 credits to graduate.   
Keith Burke said that it is still 26 credits until the Board makes changes.   
Gail Cromwell said that if this is the case, one less elective is required and the Board has not 
discussed this. 
Gail motioned that the School Board accepts the three required math requirements as part of 

the graduation requirement.  The extra credit will come from the elective requirement with no 

increase in credit requirements to graduate. 

The motion is suggested to accept the State core standards. 

Bill McKinnon second. 

Bill said that if Gail was willing to restate and say that it should be a minimum requirement  

Gail accepted. 

Keith said that we have to up the credit requirements to meet the state.  We donÕt want to go below. 
Gail said that she is really only objecting to the process.  She doesnÕt want things to happen at the 
high school without the School Boards knowledge.   
Gail Cromwell withdrew all of her motion. 

 

Christy said that the committee also discussed the ATC.  Potential programs that could be started as 
well as those that might be dropped were discussed. 
Christy requested Monday, February 27, 2006 at 7:00 p.m. for the next Education Committee 
meeting. 
 
e. Budget and Property 

Craig Hicks said that he wants an understanding of what we do and donÕt want to discuss in public.   
See Attachment #1 Ð Budget By Object (Proposed 206 Ð 2007)  and Budget by Function.  Also, see 
Attachment #2 - Proposed Budget vs. Final Budget Ð what did we cut.  Almost $600,000 has been 
trimmed from the budget.  See Attachments #3 and #4 as well regarding Operational Budget 
comparison and Unfunded Federal mandates reviewed. 
Regarding the Computer Initiative, Rick, Peter and Dick will be present to answer any questions. 

 The next Budget and Property meeting will take place on March 1, 2006. 
   

f. Personnel 

Dan Harper reported that Personnel will meet on February 13, 2006. 
 

g. Staff Development 

Ken Young reported that they have not met. 
 

h. Steering 

None 
 

 

4. 



 

i. Communications 

Nan Fornal said that discussion took place about what P.R.would take place before the March 
meeting. 
 

       6.  Old Business 

 Bill Mckinnon said that questions about fluoride came up during a Board meeting in 2004 in 
Francestown.  Further discussion was tabled at that time.  The pros and cons of fluoride were 
requested to be sent home to parents.  FES has started up the same program with Monadnock Healthy 
teeth.  A document was sent home to parents requesting them to sign up.  The Board tabled the 
discussion and then administration went off and did it anyway.   
Joe MacGregor said that the discussion was that we would provide a 30 second fluoride flush.  Bill 
said that it is actually a gel and not a flush.  May Clark said that anything that is done with individual 
children has gone through the parental permission process.  It is not administered by school staff but 
through a dental professional.  Free dental care is an option off school grounds to families.  Mrs. 
Clark said that it is impressive that teeth cleaning and restorative treatment is made available free of 
charge.                        
Pamela Matthews said that the same thing is happening in Bennington.  Sue Copley confirmed that it 
was a good plan.  Bill McKinnon said that he is not questioning the benefit of dental care.  Back in 
November 2004 Mr. McKinnon said that he wanted parents to receive information about alternatives.  
He is not discounting the benefits in any way.  His point is that administration went ahead with this 
anyway and the Board was not gone through.   
Joe MacGregor said that an action was not taken in either direction that evening.  The minutes did not 
show a clear distinction of what took place. 
Nan Fornal said that she agrees with benefits but that she is very anti-fluoride.  Tom Welden said that 
if an item is tabled it should be either endorsed or not before action is taken with regard to it. 
Christy Greene suggested that literature representing both sides be given to parents.  Bill McKinnon 
said that he had concerns that information in favor of treatments has already gone home. 
Bill McKinnon motioned to require that both sides be presented to parents before this program 

continues. 

Gail Cromwell second. 
May Clark said that she thinks that it is the families responsibility to find out this information.  
Otherwise, schools are taking on a huge responsibility in providing such information.   
Shelly Nelkens said that the Healthy Kids document states that it is not a school-sponsored activity.  
It implies that it is endorsed by the school when distributed from the schools.   
Stewart Brock agrees that we need to have parents have the accountability.  Before he signs a 
document for his son, daughter, or family he feels that it is his ultimate responsibility to make the 
decision.   
Craig Hicks said that we need to be very clear that we are allowing it to occur but that we are not 
endorsing it. 
Keith Burke said that as far as flyers go, stating that it is not a ConVal sponsored activity makes it 
clear that the district does not provide it.  Otherwise, the Girl Scouts or Boy Scouts could not send 
information home if this was the case.  This is the best we could do or flyers could never go home.   
Tom Lawless said that we should treat the adults like adults and not educate them.  That should be 
their job to do.   
Marian Alese said that if a motion was made then it was recorded.  If it was tabled then it was 
recorded.  The information was received from Shelly Nelkens.  No motion or table was recorded.  
Bill McKinnon said that it wasnÕt a motion.   
Joe MacGregor said that there is a motion on the floor that information will be provided about 

the Healthy Kids dental program.  A balanced document will be provided to give the alternate 

view, both positive and negative, with credible information.   

Gail Cromwell, Bill McKinnon, Christy Greene and Nan Fornal were in favor.   

Opposed were Stewart Brock, Ken Young, Craig Hicks, Dan Harper, Tom Lawless, and Tom 

Welden.      Motion defeated. 

5. 



 

 
 
Gail said that she wanted to discuss the copying of the manual request.  The original conversation 
took place and then a second conversation took place.  The next evening the information was placed 
in mailboxes.   
We spent a lot of time discussing handwritten notes and that nothing could be given out.   
Joe MacGregor said that the original request was that copies of the entire document be provided.  
Other issues were higher on the list at that time.    
Gail said that items marked ÒIMBCÓ are of importance.  ÒILBAAÓ are also important.   
There are some sample policies that touch on items that we will be discussing soon.  Gail was glad 
that there was a rational explanation of why we did not have this information.  At the bottom, legal 
references are noted and she thinks that the new format is great. 

 

Craig Hicks asked when the credit and gym discussion will take place.  Gail said that it is on the 
horizon for March.   
Shelly Nelkens said that she is concerned about the recommendation  
Joe MacGregor said that he suspects that it will be reviewed. 

 
 7.  Approval of Manifests (Board Vote Required) 

     Marian certified that manifests 86 Ð92 totaling $1,200,838.20 and sub run 120 and 121 totaling   
     $11,965.79 and Payroll #16 totaling $791,474.92 have been reviewed and found to be proper charges 
     against the Contoocook Valley School District for goods or services received and have been properly 
     processed prior to their submittal to the School Board.      
     Ken Young moved to approve manifests. 

     Tom Lawless second.  Unanimous 

 

     The Press asked if it was predetermined that an apology would not come forward if Article #17 passed. 
     Joe MacGregor said that the Board would meet and determine what action would take place. 
 
  

8.  Non-Public Session:  RSA 91-A:3,IIc 

     Dan Harper motioned to go into non-public session for negotiations 

     All in favor. Ken Young left the meeting at 9:22.  Those Board Members staying voted in the   

     affirmative. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

     Respectfully submitted, 

 

 

 

 

     Brenda Marschok 

 

 

 

6. 



 

 

 

 

 

 


